ELECTRONICALLY FILED 2017 Apr 26 PM 9:03 CLERK OF THE APPELLATE COURT CASE NUMBER: 116483

#### No. 16-116483-A

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

## FRANK ROBINSON Petitioner-Appellee

v.

STATE OF KANSAS Respondent-Appellant

## **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF SHAWNEE COUNTY, KANSAS HONORABLE EVELYN Z. WILSON, JUDGE DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. 14-CV-795

> Michael F. Kagay, #25524 District Attorney Third Judicial District Shawnee County Courthouse 200 S.E. 7<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 214 Topeka, Kansas 66603 (785) 251-4330 (895) 251-4909 FAX sncoda@snco.us

##

NATURE OF THE CASE										
STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 1 STATEMENT OF FACTS 1 ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES 17										
						I.		The district court erred in finding that Robinson's counsel was deficient and that the deficiency was prejudicial to his case17		
							A.	Preservation17		
		<i>State v. Godfrey</i> , 301 Kan. 1041, 350 P.3d 1068 (2015)17								
		Kan. Sup. Ct. Rule 6.02(a)(5)17								
	B.	Jurisdiction17								
		<i>Moll v. State</i> , 41 Kan.App.2d 677, 204 P.3d 659 (2009)17								
		<i>McHenry v. State</i> , 39 Kan.App.2d 117, 177 P.3d 981 (2008)17								
	C.	Standard of Review17								
		Kan. Sup. Ct. Rule 183(j)17								
		<i>Bellamy v. State</i> , 285 Kan. 346, 172 P.3d 10 (2007)17								
		<i>State v. Adams</i> , 297 Kan. 665, 304 P.3d 311 (2013)17								
		<i>Bellamy v. State</i> , 285 Kan. 346, 172 P.3d 10 (2007)18								
		<i>State v. Brown</i> , 300 Kan. 542, 331 P.3d 781 (2014)18								
		<i>State v. Walker</i> , 283 Kan. 587, 153 P.3d 1257 (2007)18								

Analysis18
<i>Strickland v. Washington</i> , 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, <i>reh. denied</i> 467 U.S. 1267, 104 S.Ct. 3562, 82 L.Ed.2d 864 (1984)
<i>Thompson v. State</i> , 293 Kan. 704, 270 P.3d 1089 (2011)18
<i>Strickland v. Washington</i> , 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, <i>reh. denied</i> 467 U.S. 1267, 104 S.Ct. 3562, 82 L.Ed.2d 864 (1984)
<i>Edgar v. State</i> , 294 Kan. 828, 283 P.3d 152 (2012)19
<i>Strickland v. Washington</i> , 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, <i>reh. denied</i> 467 U.S. 1267, 104 S.Ct. 3562, 82 L.Ed.2d 864 (1984)
<i>Edgar v. State</i> , 294 Kan. 828, 283 P.3d 152 (2012)19
<i>Crowther v. State</i> , 45 Kan.App.2d 559, 563-63, 249 P.3d 1214, <i>rev. denied</i> 293 Kan (2011)19
<i>State v. Bricker</i> , 292 Kan. 239, 252 P.3d 118 (2011)19
<i>State v. Cheatham</i> , 296 Kan. 417, 292 P.3d 318 (2013)19
<i>United States v. Cronic</i> , 466 U.S. 648, 665, n. 38, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984)19
<i>Padilla v. Kentucky</i> , 559 U.S. 356, 371, 130 S.Ct. 1473, 1485, 176 L.Ed.2d 284 (2010)19
A. Judge Wilson erroneously concluded that Robinson's use of a consulting expert witness simply wasn't good Enough
<i>Sola-Morales v. State</i> , 300 Kan. 875, 325 P.3d 1162 (2014)20
<i>Fuller v. State</i> , 303 Kan. 478, 488, 363 P.3d 373 (2015)21
<i>State v. Cheatham</i> , 296 Kan. 417, 292 P.3d 318 (2013)

D.

Winter v. State, 210 Kan. 597, 502 P.2d 733 (1972) ......21 *State v. Lewis*, 33 Kan.App.2d 634, 111 P.3d 636 (2003)......21 Flynn v. State, 281 Kan. 1154, 136 P.3d 909 (2006) ......21 Moncla v. State, 285 Kan. 826, 832, 176 P.3d 954 (2008) ......21 Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, reh. denied 467 U.S. 1267, 104 S.Ct. 3562, State v. Rice, 261 Kan. 567, 932 P.2d 981 (1997) ..... 22 LaFave, 3 Criminal Procedure § 11.10(c) (2d ed. 1999)......22 Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 523, 123 S.Ct. 2527, 156 L.Ed.2d Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 125 S.Ct. 2456, 162 L.Ed.2d 360 Sidebottom v. Delo, 46 F.3d 744, 753 (8th Cir. 1995) ......26 Ruis v. United States, 221 F.Supp.2d 66, 82, (D.Mass.2002), aff'd, 339 F.3d 39 (1st Cir. 2003)......26 Miller v. Anderson, 255 F.3d 455, 459 (7th Cir. 2001) ......26 Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 111, 131 S.Ct. 770, 178 L.Ed.2d 

<i>Ferguson v. Werholtz</i> , No. 04-3413-JTM, 2006 WL 2092460 (D. Kan. July 27, 2006)28
<i>Mullins v. State</i> , 30 Kan.App.2d 711, 46 P.3d 1222 (2002)28
<i>Harrington v. Richter</i> , 562 U.S. 86, 111, 131 S.Ct. 770, 178 L.Ed.2d 624 (2011)
<i>Bell v. Cone</i> , 535 U.S. 685, 122 S.Ct. 1843, 152 L.Ed.2d 914 (2002)
<i>Lockhart v. Fretwell</i> , 506 U.S. 364, 113 S.Ct. 838, 122 L.Ed.2d 180 (1993)
Farmer v. Paccar, Inc., 562 F.2d 518 (8th Cir. 1997) 31
<i>United States v. Markum</i> , 4 F.3d 891, 896 (10th Cir. 1993)31
<i>Drennan v. State</i> , No. 102,090, 2010 WL 4393915 (Kan.App. 2010) (unpublished opinion)31
<i>Flynn v. State</i> , 281 Kan. 1154, 136 P.3d 909 (2006)32
<i>Strickland v. Washington</i> , 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, <i>reh. denied</i> 467 U.S. 1267, 104 S.Ct. 3562, 82 L.Ed.2d 864 (1984)
B. Judge Wilson's determination that the impeachment of Detective Wheeles was deficient was erroneous 33
C. Judge Wilson's determination that Mr. Huerter was deficient for failing to call alibi witnesses was erroneous
<i>State v. Shumway</i> , 48 Kan.App.2d 490, 293 P.3d 772, <i>rev. denied</i> 298 Kan. 1203 (2013)
<i>State v. Thomas</i> , 26 Kan.App.2d 728, 993 P.2d 1249 (1999), <i>aff'd</i> 270 Kan. 17, 11 P.3d 1171 (2000)39
<i>State v. Sanford</i> , 24 Kan.App.2d 518, 522-23, 948 P.2d 1135, <i>rev. denied</i> 262 Kan. 967 (1997)

.

iv

D. Judge Wilson incorrectly concluded that Robinson established that he was prejudiced40
<i>Phillips v. State</i> , 282 Kan. 154, 144 P.3d 48 (2006)40
<i>Wong v. Belmontes</i> , 558 U.S. 15, 27, 130 S.Ct. 383, 175 L.Ed.2d 328 (2009)41
<i>Strickland v. Washington</i> , 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, <i>reh. denied</i> 467 U.S. 1267, 104 S.Ct. 3562, 82 L.Ed.2d 864 (1984)
Manuel v. MDOW Ins. Co., 791 F.3d 838, (8th.Cir. 2015)42
<i>Pekarek v. Sunbeam Prods., Inc.</i> , 672 F.Supp.2d 1161, 1175 (D.Kan. 2008)42
<i>Somnis v. Country Mut. Ins. Co.</i> , 840 F.Supp.2d 1166, 1171 (D.Minn. 2012)42
<i>Hickerson v. Pride Mobility Prods. Corp.</i> , 470 F.3d 1252, 1257-58 (8th Cir. 2006)
<i>Wilkins v. State</i> , 286 Kan. 971, 190 P.3d 957 (2008)45
<i>Harrington v. Richter</i> , 562 U.S. 86, 131 S.Ct. 770, 178 L.Ed.2d 624 (2011)47
<i>Thompson v. United States</i> , 436 Fed.Appx. 669 (7th Cir. 2011)47
<i>Michigan Millers Mut. Ins. Corp. v. Benfield</i> , 140 F.3d 915, 922 (11th Cir. 1998)47
<i>Thompson v. State</i> , 293 Kan. 704, 270 P.3d 1089 (2011)48
<i>State v. Cheatham</i> , 296 Kan. 417, 292 P.3d 318 (2013)49

,

CONCLUSION