No. 16-116483-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

FRANK ROBINSON

Petitioner – Appellee/Cross-Appellant

V.

STATE OF KANSAS

Respondent – Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF
SHAWNEE COUNTY, KANSAS
HONORABLE EVELYN Z. WILSON, JUDGE
DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. 14-CV-795

Jean Phillips, #14540
Director
Paul E. Wilson Project for Innocence and
Post-Conviction Remedies
University of Kansas School of Law
1535 W. 15th Street, Room 409
Lawrence, Kansas 66045
785-864-5571
785-864-5054 FAX
phillips@ku.edu

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

Arguments and Authorities

State's Appeal:

Issue I: The district court correctly held that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call an expert, impeach Detective Wheelles, and investigate Mr. Robinson's alibi, all in violation of the of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and § 10 of the Kansas Bill of Rights

Standard of Review

When a K.S.A. 60-1507 evidentiary hearing is held the district court must make findings of fact and conclusions of law. Rule 183(j). On appeal, "the appellate court must

give deference to the district court's findings of fact, accepting as true the evidence and any inferences that support or tend to support the district court's findings. [citations omitted]" *Bellamy v. State*, 285 Kan. 346, 355, 172 P.3d 10 (2007). The district court decision must be affirmed when the factual findings are supported by substantial competent evidence and are sufficient to support the conclusions of law. *Graham v. State*, 263 Kan. 742, 753, 952 P.2d 1266 (1998). Appellate courts do not reweigh evidence, pass on the credibility of witnesses, or resolve conflicts in the evidence, although the district court's conclusions of are reviewed de novo. *Bellamy*, 295 Kan. at 355. *See also*, *State v. Hayden*, 281 Kan. 112, 132, 130 P.3d 24 (2006).

Standard for ineffective assistance of counsel.

The Sixth Amendment guarantees every defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). Counsel is ineffective when the performance was deficient to the prejudice of the defendant. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. Deficient performance is that which falls below "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. While a court must be careful to avoid the effects of hindsight, trial strategy does excuse all decisions by counsel. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690-91. Counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations based on information provided by the client, or in the alternative to make a reasonable determination that such investigations are unnecessary; the acts and omissions of counsel must be the result of an informed strategic decision. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690-91. When counsel fails to make either reasonable investigations, or a reasonable determination not to investigate, the presumption of reasonableness is overcome.

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689.

When counsel's performance falls below professional norms, the defendant is entitled to relief when there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. This is not a but-for test, and the defendant "need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693. In fact, a preponderance of the evidence standard in a prejudice inquiry was specifically rejected by the United States Supreme Court in *Williams v. Taylor*. 529 U.S. 362, 405-406 (2000). See also *Holland v. Jackson*, 542 U.S. 649 (2004) (prejudice is less than a preponderance of the evidence). The reasonable probability standard is met when confidence in the outcome is undermined. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694.

There were three critical pieces of evidence that the State relied on to convict Mr. Robinson: the conclusion by state experts that the fire was intentionally set, Robinson's admission to being at the scene and perhaps setting one of the two fires, and Earnest Brown's claim that Robinson ran from the scene. In order to effectively defend Robinson, each of these claims had to be refuted. They were not. Trial counsel failed to use an expert to refute the findings of arson, failed to file a motion to suppress Robinson's statements, and failed to present the testimony of two witnesses, or investigate alibi witnesses, to dispute the assertion that Robinson was fleeing the scene. These failures denied Robinson his right to the effective assistance of counsel.

The district court correctly held that the failure to use an actual arson expert, to impeach Detective Wheelles, or to investigate alibi witnesses fell below professional

norms to the prejudice of Robinson. The findings made by the district court are supported by substantial competent evidence and any issues of witness credibility or conflicts in the evidence must be weighed in favor of upholding the district court's reversal. *Bellamy*, 295 Kan. at 355; *Hayden*, 281 Kan. at 132.

A. The district court correctly held that trial counsel's failure to use a qualified expert to refute the claims made by the State's fire investigators constituted ineffective assistance of counsel.

The crux of the State's case was that the fire was incendiary. To effectively defend Robinson, counsel had to refute the evidence presented by the State's expert; that much is admitted to by Mr. Huerter, Robinson's counsel (R. XXIV, 251). A qualified expert would have effectively explained to the jury the errors the fire investigators made and how the conclusions were incompatible with professional guidelines. Inexplicably, counsel failed to hire a qualified expert and left the State's evidence unchallenged.

1. Trial counsel did not obtain a qualified expert.

The uncontroverted facts establish that Huerter did not utilize a qualified expert or make strategic decisions with regard to the use of an expert. The district court made the following undisputed and specific findings of fact: 1) Huerter did not attempt to contact an expert until 10 days before trial; 2) it was the student intern in Huerter's office who contacted and spoke to the alleged expert; 3) the person contacted, Gene Gietzen, was not an arson expert; 4) Gietzen was not provided pictures or videos of the crime scene; 5) Gietzen was not asked to conduct an origin and cause analysis of the fire; and 6) Jason Belveal, Robinson's co-counsel, along with federal public defenders, Kirk Redmond and Melody Brannon, all testified that an expert was essential to properly defend Robinson

(R.I, 354-71). Each of these findings of fact is supported by substantial competent evidence and is entitled to deference by this court. To the extent the State argues that some findings are ambiguous and there is conflicting testimony, those ambiguities and conflicts must be resolved in favor of the trial court's findings. *See Bellamy, 295 Kan. at 355; Hayden, 281 Kan. at 132.*

Huerter and the State attempt to explain away the failure to hire a qualified expert by asserting that (1) counsel consulted with Geitzen and his initial feedback did not refute the State's expert; (2) it was strategy was to use Gietzen to prepare cross-examination questions; and (3) it was strategy not to seek a different expert. As found by the district court, however, the facts and "Mr. Huerter's testimony belies the conclusion that his inquiry into an arson expert was particularly extensive." (R. I, 365). Huerter waited until 10 days before trial before having an intern in his office contact Gietzen, who is not an arson expert. He then failed to provide adequate information to Gietzen or use what information Gietzen did provide in his cross examination of Agent Monty.

a. Mr. Gietzen is not a qualified arson expert.

Unfortunately for Robinson, the individual Huerter contacted was not an arson expert. Gene Gietzen, who Huerter allegedly consulted with to formulate the defense, testified at the 1507 hearing that *he is not an arson or fire expert.* (R.XXIV, 142-43). He is a general crime scene technician specializing in scene photography, evidence collection and preservation, and laboratory work. (R.XXIV, 143). He is not certified by either of the two professional organizations that accredit arson/fire investigators, or any

other similar body, and his only arson-related training comes from one class on laboratory analysis of arson debris. (R.XXIV, 142-43).

Huerter's claim that Gietzen was "an arson investigation-type expert, cause and origin person," (R. XXIV, 12), is simply wrong, and the error is unacceptable. *See Hinton v. Alabama*, 134 S.Ct. 1081 (2014) (counsel is ineffective for failing to use an appropriate expert). Contrary to the State's claim that the district court put too much emphasis on whether Gietzen was certified by professional arson organizations, the credibility call made by the district court must be given deference, especially in light of Gietzen's own testimony that he is not an arson expert. *See Bellamy*, 295 Kan. At 355; *Hayden*, 281 Kan. At 132. Gietzen may have been a crime scene investigator, but as the district court properly concluded, that does not make him an expert in the origin and cause of fires. (R. I, 368).

b. It was not trial strategy to use Mr. Gietzen as a consultant for cross-examination.

Huerter's claim, that Gietzen could not contradict the State's expert and that he used Geitzen to prepare cross-examination questions, is factually and legally unsupportable. Both Huerter and the State overlook the most important finding by the district court: Gietzen was never asked to give an origin and cause analysis of the fire. In fact, Gietzen, regardless of his qualifications, could not give an origin and cause determination because he was not provided with photographs or video from the crime scene. Glossing over this undisputed fact vitiates the contentions that Gietzen did not contradict Monty's conclusion and it was trial strategy to use Gietzen as a consultant.

Huerter and the State cannot rely on strategy to defend the decision to use Gietzen as a consultant when Huerter failed to provide Gietzen with the necessary material to offer an opinion, or make proper use of the alleged expert. Not only did Huerter wait until 10 days before trial to even contact Gietzen, he failed to ask for the most important evidence for the defense: the origin and cause of the fire.

Huerter's claim that Gietzen could not contradict the State's expert is not supported by the facts. Interestingly, some of the work of Agent Monty was so obviously flawed that even Gietzen was able to identify and attack some of its conclusions, providing Huerter with numerous cross-examination questions targeted at classifying the cause of the fire as "undetermined." (R. XXIX, 784-804). Gietzen's report reveals issues with the methodology and conclusions of Monty, contradicting Huerter's testimony that he could not refute the State's experts.

Comparing Gietzen's generic fire information with Huerter's cross-examination established further significant omissions on Huerter's part. Huerter inexplicably chose not to question Monty on the perhaps the most critical issue in the case, the four causes of arson and what distinguishes those classifications. Huerter failed to ask a single question about multiple factors that are essential to the origin and cause determination of a fire, such as ignition source, progression of the fire, and the condition of the building. Huerter completely failed to mention the National Fire Protection Association's published codification of accepted practice, the *NFPA 921 Guide For Fire & Explosion Investigations*, which provided numerous grounds to impeach Monty. Huerter also failed to impeach Monty with another seminal text originally cited by Monty, *Kirk's Fire*

Investigation. Huerter never addressed the intent issue as it relates to arson. Huerter never mentioned Monty's unscientific and impermissible interpretation of negative evidence, commonly referred to as "negative corpus" methodology, despite an abundance of content that existed at the time in both respected treatises which criticize negative corpus as bad science.

The contention that it was strategy to use Gietzen as a consultant to prepare cross-examination questions strains credulity. Gietzen is not an arson expert, and he was not asked to make an origin and cause determination. What general information Gietzen did provide, Huerter did not use. There is no strategic explanation for Huerter's conduct, and by not seeking a qualified expert for an origin and cause analysis, Huerter left one of the three crucial pieces of the State's evidence — the fire was arson — uncontested.

2. Trial Counsel's failure to hire and consult with a qualified arson expert falls below professional norms.

At the evidentiary hearing, two federal public defenders, both of whom had extensive state court practice, establish that using an arson expert is the professional norm. Even Robinson's own trial attorney stated that an expert was crucial. Jason Belveal, Huerter's co-counsel testified, "Many of the things around an arson are very technical in nature...you can study those as much as you like but *you're never going to be able to digest it like an expert in the field.*" (R. XXIV, 261). Defense counsel needed to hire a legitimate expert, one any court would not have a problem qualifying.

In *Hinton v. Alabama*, 134 S.Ct. 1081 (2014), the United States Supreme ruled that trial counsel was ineffective for not obtaining the services of a qualified expert.

Hinton involved a homicide where the prosecution linked the defendant to the crime mainly through the testimony of a ballistics expert. 134 S.Ct. at 1083-84. Rather than hire a qualified expert, trial counsel obtained the services of a person who's area of expertise did not include ballistics. Explaining that it would not weigh which qualified expert was the best, the Supreme Court specifically stated that the failure to seek a qualified expert could not be deemed strategy, and counsel was ineffective for not searching for a qualified expert. 134 U.S. at 1089.

The Kansas courts have also held that the failure to hire an expert can constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. In *State v. Mullins*, 30 Kan.App.2d 711 (2002), the defendant was convicted of repeatedly sodomizing his young son. The child allegedly reported the abuse to his mother, who took the child to the Children's Center at KU Medical Center. There a nurse interviewed the child and then testified about the child's claims and that the absence of physical evidence was normal. This Court concluded that the failure to hire an expert and properly prepare for the cross-examination of the State's witnesses constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. Noting that linchpin of the State's case was the allegations made by the child, the failure to hire an expert in child interviewing techniques and cross-examine the studies relied upon by the child advocate was found to be ineffective. This Court reversed the conviction. 30 Kan.App.2d at 718-19.

Mullins is directly on point. The nurse's testimony was critical to bolstering the credibility of the victim and in resolving the questions about the lack of physical evidence, despite allegations of repeated anal sodomy of a young boy. It was essential

that an expert explain interviewing techniques and challenge the studies relied upon by the nurse. In this instance, the testimony of Agent Monty and Fire Marshall Roberts were critical to establishing that the fire was incendiary. Without presenting testimony to the contrary or properly using a qualified expert, counsel was unable to challenge one of the three essential pieces of evidence presented by the State -- the fire had been intentionally set, by an ignitable fluid no less. Had this conclusion been challenged, the State's ability to prove arson is called into serious doubt. The State's attempts to minimize the holding in *Mullins* are unpersuasive.

The cases relied upon by the State to negate the need for an expert are unpersuasive or simply misconstrued. The State cited to *Miller v. Anderson*, 255 F.3d 455 (7th Cir. 2001), as support for not getting an expert. Specifically, the State emphasized a passage in the case where, in dicta, the court ponders the necessity for an expert and concludes that an expert is not needed in instances where the prosecution's evidence is so weak that it can be "demolished" on cross-examination. *Miller*, 255 F.3rd at 459. What the state does not discuss, however, is the actual holding of the case.

The *Miller* Court reversed on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim for not calling forensic experts. After explaining that the prosecution's expert witness testified that a pubic hair found on the victim's thigh was almost certainly the defendant's, the *Miller* court found:

Miller's lawyer did not consult with a hair expert, let alone call one as a witness, but was content to cross-examine the state's expert. In the postconviction proceedings, however, new counsel for Miller retained a far more experienced hair expert than the state's and this expert testified that the hair was like the victim's hair and unlike Miller's. The prosecution at

Miller's trial had also presented DNA evidence that it admitted was inconclusive and had not presented tire-tread and footprint evidence that it had said in opening argument it would present. Had Miller's lawyer called his own DNA, tire-tread, and footprint experts, *they would have testified not that the evidence was inconclusive but that it provided absolutely no basis for supposing Miller present at the scene of the crime.*

. . . . [The government] is content to argue that Miller's lawyer was entitled to rely on cross-examination to undermine the prosecution's experts, and to make no effort to obtain his own experts. This argument would be convincing in some cases, but not in this one; *cross-examination alone could weaken the prosecution's expert evidence, but not to the point of denying it the essential corroborative value for which the prosecutor was using it.* 255 F.3rd at 457(emphasis added).

Like in *Miller*, the testimony of Agent Monty and Fire Marshall Roberts were not sufficiently weak, as evidenced by counsel's inability to demolish their testimony on cross examination. The assistance of a qualified expert was necessary.

Similarly, the State's reliance on *Wilkins v. State*, 289 Kan. 971 (2008), is not persuasive. *Wilkins* involved a homicide where the victim was found in a pond. His identification could only be made through the use of a dental expert and the 11 teeth that were located in the pond. The defense in *Wilkins* was that the defendant did not participate in the murder. The identity of the victim was not at issue. At a 1507 hearing, Wilkins argued that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to hire an expert to challenge the findings of the State's dental expert. In ruling that an expert was not necessary, the Kansas Supreme Court found it "significant" that the theory of defense did not rise and fall on the identity of the victim. 289 Kan. at 987. In the present case, however, challenging the incendiary nature of the fire was at the heart of Robinson's defense.

The other cases relied upon by the State, are either federal habeas cases, in which a very limited standard of review prevents federal relief, *See Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 131 S.Ct. 770178 L.Ed.2d 624 (2011), or are cases where it appears the 1507 counsel failed to make an adequate record. *Ferguson v. State*, 276 Kan. 428, 449-50, 78 P.3d 40 (2003). None of them are persuasive or relevant to the case at hand.

Huerter's failure to obtain a qualified expert and effectively combat the testimony of Agent Monty constitutes ineffective assistance for which there is no excuse. The Federal Public Defender's Office made available to him a well-developed attack that was informed by one of the foremost arson experts in the field. Huerter offered no explanation for ignoring the material provided, or any strategic rationale for his failure to hire a qualified expert and question Monty in critical arson-related areas.

3. Trial counsel's failure to use a qualified expert prejudiced Mr. Robinson.

The district court's finding, that the failure to properly challenge the State's experts was prejudicial to Robinson, is supported by substantial competent evidence and the law. Allowing the State's most damning evidence to fall on the ears of the jury almost uncontested rendered perhaps the most important question the jury was charged with answering – whether this fire was an arson or not – a foregone conclusion. In the absence of any voiced opinion to the contrary, the jury had almost no choice but to accept that the fire that killed Marvin Washington was an intentionally set.

Based on this Court's holding in Robinson's direct appeal, the district court properly found that the testimony of Monty was the linchpin to the State's allegation of

arson. *See State v. Robinson*, 2012 WL 4794455, *3 (Kan. App. 2012). Using a properly qualified expert, however, Huerter could have effectively called Monty's testimony into question.

a. Agent Monty's methodology was flawed.

Paul Bieber, a qualified arson investigator, found multiple problems with Monty's methodology. He explained that in a forensic fire investigation, there are four prongs that must be evaluated: the oxidizing agent (usually oxygen), the origin of the fire, the cause of the fire, and the how the fire developed. Bieber emphasized that that each prong must be evaluated in order and separately. (R. XXIV, 189). Monty, however, determined that the fire was incendiary through unsupported personal experience and by conflating the origin, cause, and its progression. Monty could not pinpoint the origin of the second fire with any specificity, but still concluded the fire was intentionally set because the it burned too quickly without an adequate fuel source. In his opinion, the only way to explain the progression of the second fire was that an accelerant was used. As Bieber explained, working backwards, conflating the four prongs, and using negative corpus to conclude the fires were incendiary, violated accepted fire investigation protocol.

i. Agent Monty could not pinpoint the origin of the fire.

Before a determination as to the cause of the fire, and whether it was incendiary, can be made, the origin of the fire must be located. (R. XXIV, 188-89). Monty, however, could not definitively pinpoint the origin of the fire, testifying that it was "adjacent to the first step within the foyer inside the front door." (R. XI, 200). He then concluded it was "in the stairwell near the first step." (R. XI, 201). The failure to find an ignition source is

crucial. Without that determination, a methodology called “negative corpus” must be utilized.

Negative corpus uses the process of elimination to determine the origin and cause of a fire, without any supporting evidence. (R. XXIV, 193). Consequently, negative corpus is not based on an affirmative finding, but is “a specific conclusion is drawn, not because there is evidence to support the conclusion but simply because there is not evidence to support a competing conclusion.” (R. XXIV, 193). Negative corpus, however, is exactly how Agent Monty determined the fire was incendiary (R. XXIV, 194); not because there was evidence of the fire being intentionally set, but because he could not determine how else the fire could have started and progressed rapidly. In the absence of any other explanation, it had to be incendiary. The use of qualified expert would have allowed Huerter to explain that the Monty’s failure to follow established protocol casts significant doubt on his conclusion that the second fire was incendiary.

ii. Agent Monty erred in determining the cause and progression of the fire.

Standard protocol at the time establishes that the failure of Monty to first pinpoint the origin of the fire, was only one mistake. His conclusions regarding the cause and progression of the fire, also fail basic fire investigation methodologies. Monty asserted that the fire was caused by an accelerant. He based his opinion on the progression of the fire and his personal experience. There are several errors that a qualified expert can dispute.

First, there is no evidence that an accelerant was used. None of the typical fire patterns characteristic of accelerant use, such as trailers, doughnut patterns, saddle burns, or linear radiation lines, were observed by investigators. (R. XXIX, 304). Second, at the scene, a canine alerted to several items for the presence of an accelerant. Those items were sent to a laboratory for confirmatory testing. The tests came back negative for an accelerant.

Despite negative lab results, Monty opined that accelerant had to have been used because of the speed at which the fire spread. Monty, however, had no idea how fast the fire spread because he was not there when the fire began. Bieber explained:

Using the speed of fire growth, the --- how rapidly a fire grows from a small fire a moderately sized fire, to a large fire, first provides a couple of disabilities. One is, it is a very subjective examination. You're not sitting there with a clock and really have nothing to compare it to. But more important, in this particular case, is that the information that Investigator Monty used to develop a timeline to understand how quickly or slowly the fire progressed begins when the first witness saw or observed the fire. By the time the first witness sees the fire, it was already a very large fire.... (R. XXIV, 188).

In an absence of any information to help understand how quickly or slowly it progressed to the point where it was witnessed, in the absence of that information, you can't use the speed of the development of the fire to support a sub conclusion. (R. XXIV, 193-94).

Bieber went on to explain that in balloon construction of the homes, "there is nothing to stop the flow of the heat, gases, and flames from the first floor to the attic. And very quickly you would expect the fire to travel through the building." (R. XXIV, 196). Balloon construction, combined with the void space under the stairs and the fuel load and

debris in the home, were all significant factors in the progression and the speed of the spread of the fire. (R. XXIV, 202-205).

Second, the use of an expert would have allowed Huerter to explain that the inability to quickly put the fire out is not indicative of the use of an accelerant, but rather, a failure to get the water to the “seat” of the fire. The first firefighter to enter the building stated that when he put his foot on the stair, his foot broke though and he could see flames. (R. XXIV, 197-98). Bieber explained that once the fire is burning under the stairs, “it would be expected to very quickly go to the second floor and then the attic.” (R. XXIV, 197-98). At that point, the inability to put out the fire “has nothing to do with ignitable liquid. It has to do with directing your hose to the seat of the fire...The fire did burn at some point underneath the stairs. That is a really good way to block the stream of water – the water stream from getting to the seat of the fire.” (R. XXIV, 210). The inability to get to the seat of the fire would explain why Fire Marshall Roberts witnessed the flames return when the hose was moved to a different place. (R. XXIV, 201-03).

Agent Monty’s conclusion that an accelerant was used, was also erroneously based upon his experience and the lack of a fuel load; testimony that should have been challenged by Huerter. (R. XI, 203-210). Without any specific support, and contrary to all of the information known about and observed at the scene, Monty assumed, based on his personal life experience, that there was not enough material near the area of the fire to fuel it. He testified that “...stairwells don’t typically have things, good fuel to get a fire of this significance going.” (R. XI, 201). Not only is this wild speculation unfit to be the basis for any conclusion, but an investigator’s lack of experience with the fuel load in a

stairwell does not satisfy the scientific method and is not appropriate grounds to draw any investigatory conclusion according to the NFPA. (R. I, 79).

More importantly, the facts prove Monty wrong. The house was in a well-documented state of disrepair, with large amounts of trash and debris strewn everywhere. (R. I, 79-80). Monty's own report painted a clear picture of a dilapidated structure with debris littered all around the parts of the structure that remained – trash, clothes, cigarette lighters, old appliances and tires were among the debris he specifically identified. (R. XXIX, 772, 777). Monty offered no explanation for why he would believe that the common entrance area of this crack house was free of the mess found everywhere else around it.

Nothing about the evidence in this case suggests that this was the “typical” stairwell with which Monty seems to be familiar. In fact, survivor Sheila Ansley testified that the foyer and stairwell were covered in trash such as food wrappers, crack paraphernalia, cardboard boxes, and there were frequent electrical problems throughout the whole building. (R. XI, 53-54). All these items would have provided a very significant fuel load in the stairway, which could have supported the second fire. (R. I, 80-81).

The State argued that Agent Monty's conclusions were appropriate based on the version of the NFPA that was in effect at the time of the original investigation. A simple review of the treatises that Monty relied upon, however, demonstrates this assertion is false. According *Kirk's Fire Investigation*, Sixth Ed., 2007, which was the protocol at the time, the prevailing standard in the field of fire investigation was that “there should be a

presumption that a fire is accidental until it is clearly proven to be incendiary[.]” (R. XXIX, 369, 284). Monty relied *Kirk’s Fire Investigation* to support his conclusions, and he acknowledged that the NFPA 921 is a learned treatise. (R. XXIX, 284). Bieber explained that while the 2011 edition of the NFPA specifically states that negative corpus is not scientifically valid, even prior editions would only permit the use of negative corpus only in very limited circumstances, circumstances that did not exist in the present case. (R. XXIV, 217-219). Ignoring the methodology of his own treatise, Monty erroneously concluded the fire was incendiary. Huerter, however, failed to make these facts known to the jury.

In its attempts to distance Monty from his failure to follow standard protocol, the State turns to case law for support. A look at the facts and procedural posture of the cases cited by the State, however, tell a different story. First, all of the cases are civil products liability cases where the standards of proof are different. Second, the issue in those cases is not whether the experts’ negative corpus methodology was proper, but whether competing experts should be allowed to testify at all.

In *Manuel v. MDOW Ins. Co.*, 791 F.3d 838 (8th Cir. 2015), the issue involved the admission of the testimony of an expert who specifically stated that he did not follow the NFPA. The holding of the court, however, was not based on a finding that experts do not have to follow the NFPA. Instead, the court, after expressing some concerns about the reliability of the expert, held the testimony admissible because of the way the issue was raised on appeal. And although the Court in *Pakarek v. Sunbeam Prod., Inc.*, 672 F.Supp.2d 1161 (D. Kan. 2008), took note of a case which holds the failure to follow the

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